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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
SACR17-00158-sv=

Plaintiff, @ = | INFORMATIO'N
V. [18 U.8.C. & 1001 (a) (2): False
Statement Within Jurisdiction of
MINA KOLTA, the United States]

aka “Matt Kolta,”

Defendant.

The Acting United States Attorney charges:
[18 U.S.C. § 1001(a) (2)]

On or about January 22, 2016, in Orange County, within the
Central District of California, and elsewhere, in a matter within the
jurisdiction of the executive branch of the government of the United
States, specifically, the Federal Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”) and
the Defense Criminal Investigative Service (“DCIS”), defendant MINA
KOLTA, also known as “Matt Kolta” (“defendant KOLTA”), knowingly and
willfully made a materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent
statement and representation, in that defendant KOLTA told agents of
the FBT and DCIS that he (defendant KOLTA) had never heard of James

Chen or Haoeyou Pharmacy. In truth and in fact, as defendant
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KOLTA then well knew, he had negotiated a contract with James Chen
and Haeoyou Pharmacy for the payment of fees in exchange for the
referral of prescriptions to be filled by a pharmacy with which
defendant KOLTA was associated, namely, Trucare Pharmacy.

. SANDRA R. BROWN
Acting United States Attorney

/’ﬁ\m_g—r

LAWRENCE S. MIDDLETON
Assistant United States Attorney
Chief, Criminal Division

GEORGE 8. CARDONA
Assistant United States Attorney
Chief, Major Frauds Section

STEPHEN A. CAZARES
Asgistant United States Attorney
Deputy Chief, Major Frauds Section

MARK AVEIS

PAUL G. STERN

CASSIE D. PALMER

Asgistant United States Attorneys
Major Frauds Section
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SOUTHERN,RELATED-G

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA (Southern Division - Santa Ana)
CRIMINAL DOCKET FOR CASE #: 8:17-cr-00158-DOC-1

Case title: USA v. Kolta

Other court case number: SACR 16-00100-DOC

Date Filed: 11/14/2017

Assigned to: Judge David O. Carter

Defendant (1)

Mina Kolta
also known as
Matt Kolta

Pending Counts

18:1001(a)(2) FALSE STATEMENT
WITHIN JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED
STATES

(D

Highest Offense Level (Opening)

Felony

Terminated Counts

represented by Michael D Nasatir

Andrues Podberesky APLC
818 West 7th Street Suite 960
Los Angeles, CA 90017
213-395-0400

Fax: 213-395-0401

Email: mnasatir@aplaw.law
LEAD ATTORNEY
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED
Designation: Retained

Vicki I Podberesky

Andrues Podberesky

818 West 7th Street Suite 960
Los Angeles, CA 90017
213-395-0400

Fax: 213-395-0401

Email: vpod@aplaw.law
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED
Designation: Retained

Disposition

Disposition

https://ecf.cacd.uscourts.gov/cgi-bin/DktRpt.pl?114043385841382-L 1 0-1 11/21/2018
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None

Highest Offense Level (Terminated)

None

Complaints

None

Disposition

Plaintiff
USA

represented by Mark Aveis
AUSA - Office of US Attorney
Major Frauds Section
312 North Spring Street Suite 1100
Los Angeles, CA 90012-4700
213-894-4477
Fax: 213-894-6269
Email: USACAC.Criminal@usdoj.gov
LEAD ATTORNEY
ATTORNEY TO BE NOTICED
Designation: Assistant US Attorney

Date Filed

Docket Text

11/14/2017

=

INFORMATION filed as to Mina Kolta (1) count(s) 1. Offense occurred in OC. (ja) (Entered:
11/21/2017)

11/14/2017

13

CASE SUMMARY filed by AUSA Mark Aveis as to Defendant Mina Kolta; defendant's Year
of Birth: 1969 (ja) (Entered: 11/21/2017)

11/14/2017

W

NOTICE of Related Case(s) filed by Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Mina Kolta Related Case
(s): SA CR 16-100-DOC (ja) (Entered: 11/21/2017)

11/14/2017

[

MEMORANDUM filed by Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Mina Kolta in regards to the
following Magistrate Judges: Jacqueline Chooljian, Patrick J. Walsh, Sheri Pym, Michael
Wilner, Alka Sagar, Jean Rosenbluth, Douglas McCormick, Rozella Oliver, Gail J Standish,
Steve Kim, John Early (ja) (Entered: 11/21/2017)

11/14/2017

MEMORANDUM filed by Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Mina Kolta. This criminal action,
being filed on 11/14/17, was not pending in the U. S. Attorneys Office before the date on which
Judge Andre Birotte Jr, and Judge Michael W. Fitzgerald began receiving criminal matters. (ja)
(Entered: 11/21/2017)

11/22/2017

{[@))

ORDER RE TRANSFER PURSUANT TO GENERAL ORDER 16-05 Related Case filed.
Related Case No: SACR 16-00100-DOC. Case, as to Defendant Mina Kolta, transferred from
Judge James V. Selna to Judge David O. Carter for all further proceedings. The case number
will now reflect the initials of the transferee Judge SACR 17-00158 DOC. Signed by Judge
David O. Carter. (dv) (Entered: 11/22/2017)

https://ecf.cacd.uscourts.gov/cgi-bin/DktRpt.pl?114043385841382-L_1 0-1 11/21/2018
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—H1/22/2017

SCHEDULING NOTICE by Judge David O. Carter as to Defendant Mina Kolta. An
Arraignment/Change of Plea Hearing is set for 11/30/2017 at 7:30 AM before Judge David O.
Carter. THERE IS NO PDF DOCUMENT ASSOCIATED WITH THIS ENTRY.(es) TEXT
ONLY ENTRY (Entered: 11/22/2017)

11/27/2017

{[=2]

SEALED DOCUMENT RE GOVERNMENT'S EX PARTE APPLICATION FOR ORDER
SEALING DOCUMENT; DECLARATION OF MARK AVEIS (mt) (Entered: 11/27/2017)

11/27/2017

(N}

SEALED DOCUMENT RE ORDER ON APPLICATION GOVERNMENT'S EX PARTE
APPLICATION FOR ORDER SEALING DOCUMENT (mt) (Entered: 11/27/2017)

11/27/2017

SEALED DOCUMENT RE DOCUMENT (mt) (Entered: 11/27/2017)

11/29/2017

Notice of Appearance or Withdrawal of Counsel: for attorney Michael D Nasatir counsel for
Defendant Mina Kolta. Adding MICHAEL D. NASATIR as counsel of record for MINA
KOLTA aka MATT KOLTA for the reason indicated in the G-123 Notice. Filed by
DEFENDANT MINA KOLTA aka MATT KOLTA. (Attorney Michael D Nasatir added to
party Mina Kolta(pty:dft))(Nasatir, Michael) (Entered: 11/29/2017)

11/30/2017

(B

MINUTES OF POST-INDICTMENT ARRAIGNMENT: held before Judge David O. Carter as
to Defendant Mina Kolta (1) Count 1. The hearing and transcript are both SEALED. Attorney:
Michael Nasatir, Retained present. Defendant arraigned. Defendant entered not guilty plea to
the single-count Information. This case was randomly assigned to District Judge James V.
Selna. Pursuant to the rules of this Court, the case was transferred to District Judge David O.
Carter for further proceedings. Refer to Dkt. #6. Court Reporter: Debbie Gale. (dv) (Entered:
11/30/2017)

11/30/2017

MINUTES OF INITIAL APPEARANCE ON INFORMATION HEARING held before Judge
David O. Carter as to Defendant Mina Kolta. Defendant informed of the charge. Defendant
states true name as charged. Attorney: Michael Nasatir, Retained, present. Court orders bail set
as: $5,000 (SEE ATTACHED COPY OF CR-1 BOND FORM FOR CONDITIONS). Post-
Indictment arraignment set for 11/30/2017 at 7:30AM in Santa Ana. Defendant self
surrendered. See separate PIA Minutes. Court Reporter: Debbie Gale. (dv) (Entered:
11/30/2017)

11/30/2017

WAIVER OF INDICTMENT by Defendant Mina Kolta before Judge David O. Carter. (dv)
(Entered: 11/30/2017)

11/30/2017

REDACTED AFFIDAVIT OF SURETIES (No Justification - Pursuant to Local Criminal Rule
46-5.2.8) in the amount of $5,000 by surety: Mina Kolta for bond Filed by Defendant Mina
Kolta. (dv) (Entered: 11/30/2017)

11/30/2017

UNREDACTED AFFIDAVIT OF SURETY (NO JUSTIFICATION) filed by Defendant Mina
Kolta re: Affidavit of Surety (No Justification)(CR-4) 15 . (dv) (Entered: 11/30/2017)

11/30/2017

17

MINUTES OF Change of Plea Hearing held before Judge David O. Carter as to Defendant
Mina Kolta. The Court orders the proceeding and transcript UNDER SEAL. Defendant sworn.
Court questions defendant regarding the plea: The Defendant Mina Kolta (1) pleads GUILTY
to Count 1 of the Information. The plea is accepted. The Court ORDERS the preparation of a
Presentence Report. Sentencing set for 6/4/2018 (@ 7:30 AM before Judge David O. Carter.
Court Reporter: Debbie Gail; Courtroom Deputy: Deborah Lewman; AUSA: Mark Aveis, Paul
Stern; Defendant Attorney: Michael Nasatir, Retained; Time in Court: :09. THERE IS NO PDF

https://ecf.cacd.uscourts.gov/cgi-bin/DktRpt.pl?114043385841382-L._1_0-1 11/21/2018



CM/ECF - California Central District

DOCUMENT ASSOCIATED WITH THIS ENTRY. TEXT ONLY ENTRY. (dgo) (Entered:

11/30/2017)

Page 4 of 4

11/30/2017

BOND AND CONDITIONS OF RELEASE filed as to Defendant Mina Kolta conditions of
release: $5,000 Appearance Bond approved by Magistrate Judge John D. Early. (mba)

(Entered: 12/01/2017)

12/05/2017

STATEMENT OF CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS filed by Defendant Mina Kolta (Nasatir,
Michael) (Entered: 12/05/2017)

04/05/2018

STIPULATION to Continue sentencing from June 4, 2018 to September 24, 2018 filed by
Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Mina Kolta (Attachments: # 1 Proposed Order)(Aveis, Mark)

(Entered: 04/05/2018)

04/06/2018

B

ORDER by Judge David O. Carter as to Defendant Mina Kolta: Approving Stipulation to
Continue Sentencing Hearing 20 . Sentencing Hearing continued to 9/24/2018 07:30 AM

before Judge David O. Carter. (mt) (Entered: 04/06/2018)

08/01/2018

3

STIPULATION to Continue Sentencing Hearing from September 24, 2018 to February 25,
2019 filed by Plaintiff USA as to Defendant Mina Kolta (Attachments: # 1 Proposed Order)
(Aveis, Mark) (Entered: 08/01/2018)

08/02/2018

2

ORDER APPROVING STIPULATION TO CONTINUE SENTENCING HEARING by Judge
David O. Carter as to Defendant Mina Kolta 22 . Sentencing CONTINUED TO 2/25/2019 at
07:30 AM before Judge David O. Carter. (twdb) (Entered: 08/02/2018)

11/15/2018

NOTICE OF APPEARANCE of attorney VICKI I. PODBERESKY, (Retained), appearing on
behalf of Defendant Mina Kolta, filed by Defendant Mina Kolta. (Podberesky, Vicki) (Entered:

11/15/2018)

PACER Service Center

Transaction Receipt

11/21/2018 09:38:54

PACER
Login:

ODLegal94612:2536794:0

Client
Code:

AFU

Description:

Docket Report

Search
Criteria:

8:17-cr-00158-

DOC End date:

11/21/2018

Pages:

Billable

Cost:

0.30

https://ecf.cacd.uscourts.gov/cgi-bin/DktRpt.pl?114043385841382-L_1_0-1

11/21/2018
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Alex Padilla
California Secretary of State

(. Business Search - Entity Detail
“

The California Business Search is updated daily and reflects work processed through Monday,
November 26, 2018. Please refer to document Processing Times for the received dates of
filings currently being processed. The data provided is not a complete or certified record of an
entity. Not all images are available online.

C3224741 EGYPTIAN, INC.

Registration Date: 08/18/2009

Jurisdiction: CALIFORNIA

Entity Type: DOMESTIC STOCK

Status: ACTIVE

Agent for Service of MINA KOLTA

Process: 1875 CALIFORNIA AVE
CORONA CA 92881

Entity Address: 1875 CALIFORNIA AVE
CORONA CA 92881

Entity Mailing Address: 1875 CALIFORNIA AVE
CORONA CA 92881

A Statement of Information is due EVERY year beginning five months before and through the
end of August.

Document Type 11 File Date lf PDF
SI-COMPLETE 08/10/2018
SI-COMPLETE 06/14/2017
REGISTRATION 08/18/2009

* Indicates the information is not contained in the California Secretary of State's database.

« If the status of the corporation is "Surrender," the agent for service of process is
automatically revoked. Please refer to California Corporations Code section 2114 for
information relating to service upon corporations that have surrendered.

+ For information on checking or reserving a name, refer to Name Availability.

« If the image is not available online, for information on ordering a copy refer to
Information Requests.

» For information on ordering certificates, status reports, certified copies of documents
and copies of documents not currently available in the Business Search or to request a
more extensive search for records, refer to Information Requests.

» For help with searching an entity name, refer to Search Tips.

https://businesssearch.sos.ca.gov/CBS/Detail 11/27/2018



State of California S
Secretary of State

Statement of Information FN30817
(Domestic Stock and Agricultural Cooperative Corporations)
FEES (Filing and Disclosure): $25.00.
If this is an amendment, see instructions. FI L ED
IMPORTANT — READ INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE COMPLETING THIS FORM In the office of the Secretary of State
1. CORPORATE NAME of the State of California
EGYPTIAN, INC.
JUN-14 2017

2. CALIFORNIA CORPORATE NUMBER

C3224741 This Space for Filing Use Only

No Change Statement (Not applicable if agent address of record is a P.O. Box address. See instructions.)

3. If there have been any changes to the information contained in the last Statement of Information filed with the California Secretary
of State, or no statement of information has been previously filed, this form must be completed in its entirety.
I:' If there has been no change in any of the information contained in the last Statement of Information filed with the California Secretary
of State, check the box and proceed to Item 17.

Complete Addresses for the Following (Do not abbreviate the name of the city. Items 4 and 5 cannot be P.O. Boxes.)

4. STREET ADDRESS OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICE CITY STATE ZIP CODE
1875 CALIFORNIA AVE, CORONA, CA 92881
5. STREET ADDRESS OF PRINCIPAL BUSINESS OFFICE IN CALIFORNIA, IF ANY CITY STATE ZIP CODE
1875 CALIFORNIA AVE, CORONA, CA 92881
6. MAILING ADDRESS OF CORPORATION, IF DIFFERENT THAN ITEM 4 CITY STATE ZIP CODE

Names and Complete Addresses of the Following Officers (The corporation must list these three officers. A comparable title for the specific
officer may be added; however, the preprinted titles on this form must not be altered.)

7. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER/ ADDRESS CITY STATE ZIP CODE
MINA KOLTA 1875 CALIFORNIA AVE, CORONA, CA 92881

8. SECRETARY ADDRESS CITY STATE ZIP CODE
MINA KOLTA 1875 CALIFORNIA AVE, CORONA, CA 92881

9. CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER/ ADDRESS CITY STATE ZIP CODE

MINA KOLTA 1875 CALIFORNIA AVE, CORONA, CA 92881

Names and Complete Addresses of All Directors, Including Directors Who are Also Officers (The corporation must have at least one
director. Attach additional pages, if necessary.)

10. NAME ADDRESS CITY STATE ZIP CODE
MINA KOLTA 1875 CALIFORNIA AVE, CORONA, CA 92881

11. NAME ADDRESS CITY STATE ZIP CODE
12. NAME ADDRESS CITY STATE ZIP CODE

13. NUMBER OF VACANCIES ON THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, IF ANY: O

Agent for Service of Process If the agent is an individual, the agent must reside in California and Item 15 must be completed with a California street
address, a P.O. Box address is not acceptable. If the agent is another corporation, the agent must have on file with the California Secretary of State a
certificate pursuant to California Corporations Code section 1505 and Item 15 must be left blank.

14. NAME OF AGENT FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS
MINA KOLTA

15. STREET ADDRESS OF AGENT FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS IN CALIFORNIA, IF AN INDIVIDUAL CITY STATE ZIP CODE
1875 CALIFORNIA AVE, CORONA, CA 92881

Type of Business

16. DESCRIBE THE TYPE OF BUSINESS OF THE CORPORATION
PHARMACY

17. BY SUBMITTING THIS STATEMENT OF INFORMATION TO THE CALIFORNIA SECRETARY OF STATE, THE CORPORATION CERTIFIES THE INFORMATION
CONTAINED HEREIN, INCLUDING ANY ATTACHMENTS, IS TRUE AND CORRECT.

06/14/2017 CYNTHIA OTERO AUTHORIZED PERSON
DATE TYPE/PRINT NAME OF PERSON COMPLETING FORM TITLE SIGNATURE

SI-200 (REV 01/2013) Page 1 of 1 APPROVED BY SECRETARY OF STATE




Trademark Electronic Search System (TESS)

Page 1 of 2

United States Patent and Trademark Office

Home| Site Index|Search | FAQ| Glossary | Guides | Contacts | eBusiness | eBiz alerts| News | Help

Trademarks > Trademark Electronic Search System (TESS)

TESS was last updated on Tue Nov 27 04:51:02 EST 2018

Please logout when you are done to release system resources allocated for you.

| Start | List At: orR|[ Jump |torecors:] | Record 8 out of 17

TESS)

Word Mark

Goods and
Services

Mark Drawing
Code

Design Search
Code

Serial Number
Filing Date
Current Basis

Original Filing
Basis

Owner

Attorney of
Record

Description of
Mark

Type of Mark
Register

Live/Dead
Indicator

Abandonment
Date

http://tmsearch.uspto.gov/bin/showfield?f=doc&state=4806:r1u33x.2.8

( Use the "Back"” button of the Internet Browser to return to

TryCare

L1 1% L ! e

TRUCARE PHARMACY

(ABANDONED) IC 035. US 100 101 102. G & S: Retail pharmacy services. FIRST USE: 20130701. FIRST USE
IN COMMERCE: 20130701

(3) DESIGN PLUS WORDS, LETTERS, AND/OR NUMBERS

02.11.07 - Arms; Fingers; Hands; Human hands, fingers, arms
19.13.01 - Mortars and pestles

86731963
August 20, 2015
1A

1A

(APPLICANT) Egyptian, Inc. DBA TruCare Pharmacy CORPORATION CALIFORNIA 1875 California Ave.
Corona CALIFORNIA 92881

Rhonda Mekhail

Color is not claimed as a feature of the mark. The mark consists of Capital T in Tru and Capital C for care in
TruCare, Capital P in Pharmacy. The logo is a picture of a hand holding a mortar and pestle.

SERVICE MARK
PRINCIPAL

DEAD

June 13, 2016

11/27/2018



Trademark Electronic Search System (TESS) Page 2 of 2

|.HOME | SITE INDEX| SEARCH | eBUSINESS | HELP | PRIVACY POLICY

http://tmsearch.uspto.gov/bin/showfield?f=doc&state=4806:r1u33x.2.8 11/27/2018
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From:

Sent: Wednesday, November 21, 2018 11:08 AM
To: I

Subject: RE: Pharmacy License 51885

Please see the information provided below regarding your request. Please feel free to contact me if you have any
questions, thank you.

NAME: TRUCARE PHARMACY

LICENSE NUMBER: PHY 51885

ADDRESS OF RECORDS: 1875 CALIFORNIA AVE CORONA CA 92881
ISSUE DATE: 6/9/14 ~ EXPIRE DATE: 6/1/19

PRINCIPALS NAME TITLE % ASSOC DISASSOC RELATED LIC
BENJAMIN, GENEVIEVE COO 50 04/25/14
KOLTA, MINA, A CEO 50 04/25/14
KOLTA, MINA, A PIC 04/25/14 10/07/16 RPH 62002
EGYPTIAN INC - COR 04/25/14
GUIRGUIS, REEM, KAMAL FAHMY PIC 10/07/16 08/15/17 RPH 71907
KOLTA, MINA PIC 08/15/17 07/17/18 RPH 62002
SALAMA, MINA, EMILE NASHED PIC 07/17/18 RPH 72539

| | California State Board of Pharmacy ‘
} 1 (916) 574-7922 | FAX (916) 574-8618 | www.pharmacy.ca.gov

‘Be Aware and Take Care: Talk to your Pharmacist!



‘,;;_f;;';;g?.o File Number: 9189576
o e

State of Utah

£ 5
?’; s 1 DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE
’i{‘-‘,\m’y Division of Corporations & Commercial Code

Business Name Registration / DBA Application

Requested Business Name: TRUCARE PHARMACY
Entity Number: 9189576

Application Date: 10/14/2014

Approved Date: 10/14/2014

Expiration Date: 10/14/2017

Filer Electronic Signature: Mina Kolta

Business Information
Purpose: Health and Personal Care Stores
Address: 1875 California Ave
corona, CA 92881
Female Owned: No
Minority Owned: No

Registered Agent
Name: INCORP SERVICES, INC.
Type: CRA
Address:
AT

Applicant / Owner(s):

Name: Mina Kolta

Entity Number:

Address: 1875 California Ave
corona, CA 92881

Name: Genevieve Benjamin

Entity Number:

Address: 1875 California Ave
corona, CA 92881

State of Utah
Department of Commerce
Division of Gomporations & Gommercial Gode

This cettifies that this registration has been filed and
approved on 14, October 2014 in the office of the
Division and hereby issues this Certification thereof.

Ry B
:?kﬁ :ﬁ?& {? F o \.:;

KATHY BERG
Division Director

Under GRAMA [63-2-201}, all registration information maintained by the Division is classified as public record. For confidentiality purposes, the



Business Records Search: North Dakota Secretary of State Page 1 of 1

N Orth DakOta r1d.gov Sg:'ct;'lmDZ?:;?ifSG{ate Government

'
1
a
" 1]
- " i
" '
A ik
el b b

Home | Business Records Search

TRUCARE PHARMACY

Trade Name

System ID: 39604900 Phone: (951) 817-1005
Status: Active
Original File Date: 08/12/2015 Last Renewal Date:

Nature of Business

PHARMACY

Owners

EGYPTIAN, INC.
1875 CALIFORNIA AVE
CORONA, CA 92881-6477

Return to Search Results

Contact Us Disclaimer | Privacy Policy

[l We use Secure Sockets Layer (SSL) encryption technology to ensure your information is secure and protected.

£ Will open a new window (pop-up).
W3C WAI AA, CSS, XHTML Compliant | Copyright 2006. All Rights Reserved. The State of North Dakota.

https://apps.nd.gov/sc/busnsrch/busnSearch.htm 11/27/2018



CORP/LLC - File Detail Report

OFFICE OF THE ILLINOIS SECRETARY OF STATE

JESSE WHITE

7
y -

L &=

Page 1 of 1

File Number
Entity Name
Status
Entity Type

Qualification Date
(Foreign)

Agent Name

Agent Street Address

Agent City
Agent Zip

Annual Report Filing
Date

Assumed Name

70092107

EGYPTIAN, INC.

REVOKED

CORPORATION

05/07/2015

INCORP SERVICES INC

901 S 2ND ST #201

SPRINGFIELD

62704

00/00/0000

SECRETARY
CORPORATION FILE DETAIL REPORT

Type of Corp

State

Agent Change Date

President Name & Address

Secretary Name & Address
Duration Date

For Year

INACTIVE - EGYPTIAN TRUCARE, INC.

Return to the Search Screen

BACK TO CYBERDRIVEILLINOIS.COM HOME PAGE

https://www.ilsos.gov/corporatellc/CorporateLlcController

OF STATE \,

FOREIGN BCA

CALIFORNIA

05/07/2015

MINA KOLTA 1875
CALIFORNIA AVE CORONA
CA 92881

REVOKED 10 14 16

PERPETUAL

2016

11/27/2018



——— MONTANA SECRETARY OF STATE

Extract generated on: November 20, 2018 12:51 PM
System Through Date: November 20, 2018

Principal Report

General Business Details and Addresses

Business Identifier: F073964

Business Name: EGYPTIAN, INC,

Name in State of Jurisdiction: EGYPTIAN, INC,
State or Country of Jurisdiction: California
Type: Foreign Profit Corporation

Status: Active Good Standing

Directors/Officers

Name: MINA KOLTA
Business Mailing Address: 1875 CALIFORNIA AVE, CORONA, California 92881, United States

Position; Director

Name: MINA KOLTA
Business Mailing Address: 1875 CALIFORNIA AVE, CORONA, California 92881, United States

Position; President



AO 91 (Rev. 11/82) » CRIMINAL COMPLAINT
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT CENTRAcLErIMSﬁf&i__ ALIi?ORNIA
CET NO, !
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA POCKETTO JUN 2 0 2916 f
' V. |
JOHN GARBINO MAGISTRA HE8LPISTRICFoF 3T il

Complajnt fdE Violano}n of Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320a-7b(b)(1)(A): Illegal Remuneration

™~ 43:: Involving A Federal Health Care Program
g PPy
HVAME OF MAGEFRATERIBEE LOCATION
B UNITED STATES .
g)NORAgLE KAKEN E. SCOTT MAGISTRATE JUDGE | Santa Ana, California
Bfé]‘ E OF OFFET& = fY PLACE OF OFFENSE ADDRESS OF ACCUSED (IF KNOWN)
In or about ﬁneﬂ:ﬁl 5 Orange County

& | COMPLAINANT'S STATEMENT OF FACTS CONSTITUTING THE OFFENSE OR VIOLATION:

[42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b)(1)(A)]

In or about June, 2015, in Orange County, within the Central District of California, defendant JOHN
GARBINO, together with others known and unknown, knowingly and willfully, received remuneration, that is,
approximately $926,563 in the form of two checks, one deposited on or about June 8, 2015, and the other
deposited on or about June 24, 2015, into a bank account in the name of Sano Medical Consultants LL.C, an
account controlled by defendant JOHN GARBINO, in return for referring individuals to seek compounded
medication prescriptions for which payment could be made in whole and in part under a Federal health care

program, namely Tricare.

BASIS OF COMPLAINANT'S CHARGE AGAINST THE ACCUSED:

(See attached Affidavit which is incorporated herein by this reference as part of this Complaint)

MATERIAL WITNESSES IN RELATION TO THIS CHARGE: N/A

i , SIGNATURE OF COMPLAINANT
Being duly sworn, I declare that the

foregoing is true and correct to the best MONICA PANDIS L{ |r

of my knowledge. OFFICIAL TITLE o
Special Agent — Federal Bureau of Investigation

Sworn to before me and subscribed in my presence,

SIGNATURE OF MAGISTRATE JUDGE!" , ) . " DATE
June 222016

T See Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure 3 and 54

AUSA: Mark Aveis, USAO CDCA, Major Frauds Section, (213) 894-4477 REC: BOND




AFFIDAVIT

I, MONICA PANDIS, being duly sworn, declare and state as

follows:
I. AFFIANT’S BACKGROUND

1. I am a Special Agent (“SA”) of the Federal Bureau of
Investigation (“FBI”). I have been so employed since approxi-

mately June 2002. I am currently assigned to the white collar
crime squad of the Orange County Regident Agency of the Los An-
geles FBI Field Division, which investigates allegations of Pub-
_ lic Corruption and Health Care Fraud. Over the past 14 years I
have been assigned to investigate Health Care Fraud. As an FBI
SA, I have investigated over 50 health care fraud and other
white-collar cases including cases involving the payment of il-
legal kickbacks affecting federal health care programs. Before
becoming an FBI SA, I was a medical social worker assigned to
hospice and pediatric HIV patients. I have a Master’s Degree in
Social Work, a Bachelor’'s Degree in Behavioral Science and a Mi-
ner in Criminal Justice and Corrections.
IT. PURPOSE OF AFFIDAVIT

2. This affidavit is made in support of a éomplaint and
request for the issuance of an arrest warrant charging JOHN
GARBINO with Illegal Remunerations for Health Care Referrals, in
violation of 42 U.S5.C. § 1320a-7b(b) (1) (A).

3. The facts set forth in this affidavit are based upon
my personal observations, my training and experience, documents
obtained from various sources including financial institutions,

information obtained from various law enforcement personnel, and



from witnesses. This affidavit is intended to show only that
there is probable cause to support the referénced complaint aﬁd
request for issuance of an arrest warrant for GARBINO. It does
not purport to set forth all of my knowledge of or investigation
into this matter, nor is it intended to provide all of the in-
formation obtained in connection with the investigation. Also,
unless specifically indicated otherwise, all conversations and
statements described in this affidavit are related in substance
and in part only, and are not verbatim.
IITI. SUMMARY OF PROBABLE CAUSE

4. Based upon the evidence stated herein, I have probable
cause to believe that GARBINO received illegal remuneration in
_exchange for referring Tricare-reimbursable prescription medica-
tion to pharmacies. Furthermore, GARBINO fabricated documents
to cover-up his offense conduct and encouraged another individu-
al to make false statements to law enforcement in order to fur-
ther conceal GARBINO’s offense conduct.

Iv. STATEMENT OF PROBABLE CAUSE

A. BACKGRQOUND
TRICARE?
5. “In 1994, Tricare replaced CHAMPUS as the health care

program for active-duty military personnel, retirees, and their

families. See http:// www.Tricare.mil/fags/guestion . . . ,”

1 gstatutory and case citations and legal analysis have been
prepared by the Assistant U.S. Attorney with whom I am working
on this investigation. I have relied upon those citations and
that analysis in support of this affidavit.



U.S. ex rel. Nowak v. Medtronic, Inc., 806 F. Supp. 2d 310, 318,

note 5 (D. Mass. 2011), as a “comprehensive managed health care
program for the delivery and financing of health care services
in the Military Health System,” see 32 C.F.R. § 199.17(a). Tri-
care is applicable to all of the uniformed services. 32 C.F.R.
§ 199.17(a) (3). “[A]ll CHAMPUS-eligible beneficiaries who are
not Medicare eligible on the basis of age are eligible to enroll
in” a Tricare program. 32 C.F.R. § 199.17(c¢c). Tricare is a
“health care benefit program” as defined by 18 U.S.C. § 24 (b),

that affects commerce, see Taylor v. United States, 89 F.Supp.3d

766, n. 1 (E.D.N.C. 2014), and as that term is used in 18 U.S.C.
§ 1347. Tricare is administered by the Defense Health Agency
( “DHA" ) .

Compounded Medications

6. During the course of this investigation, I have
learned from reviewing documents, witness interviews, and speak-
ing with other investigators involved in the investigation,
that:

a. In general, “compounding” 1is a practice in which
a licensed pharmacist, a licensed physician, or, in the case of
an outsourcing facility, a person under the supervision of a 1li-
censed pharmacist, combines, mixes, or alters ingredients of a
drug or multiple drugs to create a drug tailored to the needs of
an individual patient.

b. Compounded drugs are not FDA-approved, that is,
the FDA does not verify the safety, potency, effectiveness, or

manufacturing quality of compounded drugs. The California Board



of Pharmacy regulates the practice of compounding in the State
of California.

c. Compounded drugs may be prescribed when an FDA-
approved drug does not meet the health needs of a particular pa-
tient. For example, if a patient is allergic to a specific in-
gredient in an FDA-approved medication, such as a dye or a pre-
servative, a compounded drug can be prepared excluding the sub-
stance that triggers the allergic reaction. Compounded drugs
may also be prescribed when a patient cannot consume a medica-
tion by traditional means, such aé an elderly patient or child
who cannot swallow an FDA-approved pill and needs the drug in a
liquid form that is not otherwise available.

d. The compounded medication prescriptions in this
case were ostensibly prescribed for the treatment of pain, scar-
ring, stretch marks, erectile dysfunction, or for “general well-
ness.” The prescriptions were based on substantially similar 8
1/2” x 11" forms with check-the-box sections that described the
chemical compounds for each of these conditions. Although it
may be possible, I have reviewed hundreds of these formé, and
discussed well over a thousand of these forms with other agents
involved in this and related investigations, and I am not awaré
of any instances in which a prescribing physician altered the
pre-formulated prescriptions to suit the individual needs of any
patient.

Anti-Kickback Statute

7. The federal health care anti-kickback statute, at 42

U.S.C. § 1320a-7(b) (1) (A), (“AKS”) prohibits the receipt of any
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remuneration (including any kickback, bribe, or rebate) for re-
ferrals in connection with federal health care programs such as
Tricare. To prove a violation of the AKS, the.government must
prove each of the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) The defendant knowingly and willfully received re-
muneration, directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly;

(2) In return for the referral of an individual to a
person for the furnishiﬁg or arranging for the furnishing of any
item br service; and

(3) Payment was or would be made in whole or in part
under a federal health care program.

See, e.g., United States v. Patel, 17 F.Supp.3d 823, 824

(N.D,T11. 2014).
8. - The government need not prove that a defendant had ac-
tual knowledge of the AKS or a specific intent to violate it.

42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7(b) (h); United States v. St. Junius, 739 F.34

193, 210 (5th Cir. 2013) (“Section 1320a-7b(h) clarifies that
the Government is not required to prove actual knowledge of the
Anti-Kickback Statute or specific intent to violate it. In-
stead, the Government must prove that the defendant willfully
committed an act that violated thé Anti-Kickback Statute.”).
“The [AKS} is not a highly technical tax or financial regulation
that poses a danger of ensnaring persons engaged in apparently
innocent conduct. Rather, the giving or taking of kickbacks for
medical referrals is hardly the sort of activity a person might

expect to be legal.” United States v. Vernon, 723 F.3d. 1234,

1259 (11th Cir. 2013), c¢iting United States v. Starks, 157 F.3d




833, 838 (1l1lth Cir. 1998). The AKS may be violated even where
the referral payment has multiple purposes, so long as at least
one purpose was to induce referrals (as opposed, for example, to

compensate for advertising expense). United States v.

McClatchey, 217 F.3d 823, 835 (10th Cix. 2000); United States wv.

Kats, 871 F.2d 105, 108 (9th Cir. 1989). Evidence that an indi-
vidual engaged in illegal kickbacks may include that the kick-
back payor deliberately mischaracterized a kickback as a seem-

ingly legitimate expense. See, e.g., United States v. Moran,

778 F.3d 942, 953 (11lth Cir. 2015) (kickback payor “initiated
the plan to have the patient recruiters [kickback payees] sign
fraudulent *‘‘case manager’’ contracts” to create appearance of
legitimacy for kickbacks) .

Telemedicine

9. During the course of this investigation, I have
learned from interviewing and reviewing reports of interviews of
a pharmacist, pharmacy technicians, pharmacy owners and others
that, although a prescription is typically delivered to a phar-
macy by the patient for whom the prescription is written, or
phoned-in or otherwise communicated directly by the prescribing
physician’s office to the pharmacy for fulfillment, an enormous
number of compounded medications prescriptions -- in the thou-
sands during a few-month relevant time period in early to mid-
2015 -- were not delivered to pharmacies in that manner. In-
stead, they were generated through online “telemedicine” sites
and then faxed to a pharmacy for fulfillment; the prescription

was not sent to the patient who, in turn, delivered the pre-



scription to the pharmacy of his/her choice for fulfillment.? A
telemedicine site is ostensibly designed to assist individuals
in obtaining low-cost, easy access to health care for minor ail-
ments. A patient is supposed to pay a small fee and complete an
online questionnaire whereby the patient describes his/her symp-
toms and provides some health history. A doctor under contract
with the telemedicine site operator then receives and reviews
the questionnaire and, at least in theory, exercises independent
judgment to determine a course of treatment that may, or may
not, include prescription medication.

10. Through interviews of doctors under contract with
telemedicine sites, and others, as well as discussions with oth-
ers involved in this investigation, I have learned that telemed-
icine site operators accepted payment from third parties to ad-
vertise compounded prescription medications. More specifically,
for a fee, telemedicine site operators sent to their contract
doctors blank compounded medication prescription forﬁs, or at
times, such forms with “boxes checked” for the prescription of
specific compounded medications, before the doctors had even re-
viewed a patient’s guestionnaire answers. The site operators
encouraged their contract doctors to prescribe these medica-
tions. At least two telemedicine site contract doctors told in-
vestigators that they were not paid unless they prescribed these

medications or that, with few exceptions that did not relate to

2 In fact, I have learned that dozens, if not hundreds, of
patients who received these prescriptions knew nothing about
them until the prescriptions showed up on their doorsteps.



their view of medical necessity, they always prescribed these
medications. One other telemedicine site contract doctor, Dr.
N.C., whom I know agents interviewed and whose interview report
I reviewed, told the agents that she was pressured by the site
operator to prescribe these medications and, after refusing to
do so, learned that the telemedicine site operator and ful-
filling pharmacy had used her identity and medical credentials,
without her permission, to fill dozens of prescriptions for
these medications worth thousands of dollars in Tricare reim-
bursements. Dr. N.C. told the agents that the telemedicine site
operator offered her $200,000 to remain silent and, if she re-
fused, the site operator threatened to ruin her practice.

B. CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION

Tricare Beneficiary Complaints

11. Based upon my discussion with agents of the Defense
Criminal Investigation Service (“DCIS”), I learned the follow-
ing:

a. In 2015, DHA made a criminal referral to the DCIS
based, in part, on complaints that DHA had received from Tricare
beneficiaries. Among other things, beneficiaries had comﬁlained
about prescriptions for compounded medications. For example, on
or about April 14, 2015, Tricare beneficiary M.H. complained to
DHA that M.H. had received an “Explanation of Benefits” form
from Tricare stating that M.H. received a prescription for com-
pounded medications for which the dispensing pharmacy had
charged Tricare $59,362.33; that the beneficiary had never re-

ceived the medication; that the beneficiary did not know the



prescribing physician; and that the beneficiary had received no
phone calls about the medication. Tricare paid the dispensing
pharmacy $46,981.59 on that claim.?

b. At least twenty Tricare beneficiaries made simi-
lar complaints to DHA around this same period of time.

Investigation of Trucare Pharmacy’s Tricare Claims

12, I received and reviewed claims data from Tricare and
DHA and learned the following:

a. Trucare Pharmacy (“Trucare”) was at the relevant
time located at 1875 California Avenue, Corona, California.

b. For the calendar year 2013, Trucare submitted ap-
proximately 48 claims to Tricare for reimbursement for filling
compounded medication prescriptions, for a total amount of ap-
proximately $7,059, and on which Trucare was.paid approximately
$6,478. Trucare'’'s Tricare claims for 2013 thus averaged approx-
imately $147 per claim.

C. For the calendar year 2014, Trucare submitted ap-
proximately 16 claims to Tricare for reimbursement for filling
compounded medication prescriptions, for a total amount of ap-
proximately $18,698, and on which Trucare was paid approximately
$16,400. Trucare'’'s Tricare claims for 2014 thus averaged ap-
proximately $1,025 per claim. Based upon my review of Tricare
and DHA data, and my discussions with other agents involved in

this investigation, who have reviewed the same data, I believe

3 1 reviewed Tricare claims data and noticed that it was

not uncommon for Tricare to reimburse for less than the amocunt
of a claim.



that the greater per-claim and per-reimbursement rates for 2014
were the result of a‘rash of claims for filling compounded medi-
cation prescriptions that had been speéially formulated to
achieve the highest possible reimbursement rates rather than the
greatest medical efficacy.

d. For the calendar year 2015, Trucare submitted ap-
proximately 336 claims to Tricére for reimbursement for filling
compounded medication prescriptions, for a total amount of ap-
proximately $7,267,290, and on which Trucare was paid approxi-
mately $5,933,564. Trucare’s claims for 2015 thus averaged ap-
proximately $17,659 per claim. As stated above, I believe that
the greater per-claim and per-reimbursement rates for 2015 were
the result of a huge influx of claims for filling compounded
medication prescriptions that had been specially formulated to
achieve the highest possible reimbursement rates rather than the
greatest medical efficacy. By early May 2015, Tricare changed
its claims evaluation practices and stopped honoring claims for
the bulk-of these formulations.

Investigation of Haeoyou Pharmacy’s Tricare Claims

13. I received and reviewed claims data from Tricare and
DHA and learned the following:
a. Haeoyou Pharmacy (“Haeoyou”) is located in
Palmdale, California.
b. For calendar year 2013, Haeoyou submitted zero
claims to Tricare for reimbursement for filling compounded medi-

cation prescriptions.
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c. For calendar year 2014, Haeoyou submitted approx-
imately 31 claims to Tricare for reimbursement for filling com- -
pounded medication prescriptions, and was paid approximately
$62,278 on those claims.

d. For calendar year 2015, Haeoyou submitted approx-
iﬁately 2,798 claims to Tricare for reimbursement for f£illing
compounded medication prescriptions, and was paid approximately
$46,294,453 on those claims, for an average bf approximately
$16,546 per claim.

e. For calendar year 2015, Tricare paid‘Haeoyou ap-
proximately $4,366,638 based on compounded medication prescrip-
tions that reflected Dr. N.C. as the prescribing physician.

Initial Interview of M.K.

14. On April 13, 2016, I interviewed M.K. who told me the
following:

a. He is a part-owner of Trucare. He is a licénsed
pharmacist and was the pharmacist-in-charge at Trucare at all
relevant times.

b. Trucare specializes in creating compounding
creams among other drugs.

c. Between late 2014 and mid-2015, Tricare reim-
bursements paid to Trucare for filling compounded medication
prescriptions accounted for 20% of Trucare’s business.

d. It was illeggl to pay éutside marketers to refer
prescriptions for which reimbursement was sought from Tricare or

Medicare, and he (M.K.) knew that during the time in 2014-2015
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when Trucare filled compounded medication prescriptions for

which Trucare sought Tricare reimbursements.

e. M.K. had never heard of Clevis Management, Ha-
ceyou, or J.C., among others.
f. M.K. had heard of "“Sano” but he refused to dis-

cuss his involvement with Sano except to say that it was related
to marketing.

g. After being advised that it was a crime to lie to
federal agents, M.K. declined to change any of his answers,

Trucare’s Referral Contracts with HP and Sano

15. I know that the government subpoenaed certain.docu—'
ments from Trucare and that, after M.K.’s initial interview,
M.K. provided the government with documents relating to Trucare,
Sano, and Haeoyou. I observed the following from these docu-
ments:

a. A “Manufacturing and Marketing Agreement” between
Trucare and Haeoyou, signed by M.K. on behélf»of Trucare, and by
J.C. on behalf of Haoeyou, and made effective February 27, 2015.°
The agreement provided that Haoeyou would refer compounded medi-
cation prescriptions to Trucare and, in exdhange, Trucare would
pay Haoeyou 65% of the amount that Trucare received as reim-
bursements on claims submitted for filling those prescriptions.

The agreement also contained a clause, at section 3.4, identi-

* I know from my interview of J.C. that he controlled Clev-

is and, from that interview and from reviewing documents pro-
duced in this investigation, that Clevis did business as Haeoy-
ou.

12



fied as QANTI—REFERRAL LAWS,” that stated in part that “[tlhe
parties acknowledges /sic/ that they may be subject to certain
federal laws governing referral of patients . . . including
payments for referral or to induce the referral of patients
funder] the Medicare/Medicaid Fraud and Abuse Law . . . .”
The agreement also stated, under section 8.1, entitled “NOTIC-
ES,” that Haoeoyou’s address was listed as 25971 Pala, Suite
120, Mission Viejo, California 92691.°
b. A “Consulting Services Agreement” between Trucare
and Sano, signed by M.K. on behalf of Trucare and GARBINO on be-
half of Sano, and “entered into as of March 1, 2015 . . . .”
This agreement stated that Trucare would pay Sano 65% of “Net
prescriptions billed and collected by [Trucare].” |

Second Interview of M.K.

16. On April 13, 2016, I again interviewed M.K., this
time pursuant to a proffer agreement between M.X. and the gov-
ernment that essentially granted to M.K. limited use immunity
for his statements, subject to certain conditions. One of my
goals of that proffer was to confront M.K. about what I believed
were false statements that he had made to me, during his initial
interview, regarding his knowledge of Haeoyou, J.C., and Sano.

During that second interview, M.K. admitted that he had falsely

> I know from reviewing documents obtained in this investi-

gation, including correspondence from targets, and from visiting
that location, that this addresswas, at the relevant time, the
office of Trestles RX LLC and Trestles Pain Management Special-
ists (collectively "“Trestles”) and Sano Medical Consultants LLC
(“SanO”) . R

13



denied knowing Haeoyou and J.C. M.K. was also willing during
this second interview to discuss Sano. Thus, during this second
interview, M.K. stated:

Early Referral Business With GARBINO

a. M.K. knew GARBINO and GARBINO owned Sano. M.K.
had known GARBINO since about 2013 or earlier, when M.K. had
done business with GARBINO by paying GARBINO for the referral of
workers’ compensation medication prescriptions. GARBINO at that
time had told M.K. that paying such referral feeg was legal be-
cause GARBINO was doing the same business with other pharmacies.
M.X. paid GARBINO by check and wrote “marketing services” in the
memo section of the checks tb GARBINO even though GARBINO did
not do any actual marketing services for M.K., such as advertis-
ing, creating flyers, sending mailings or coupons, or any other
traditional marketing services.

Overflow Prescriptions Referred By Trestles

b. In or about January 2015, M.K., on behalf of Tru-
care, was solicited to £ill Tricare-reimbursable compounded med-
ication prescriptions. M.K. understood that these prescriptions
were “overflow” prescriptions (the “Overflow Prescriptions")‘
that Trestles had referred to Haeoyou in exchange for a referral
fee, but that Haoceyou lacked the ability to £ill the prescrip-
tions. M.K. believed that Trestles was controlled by GARBINO,
D.F., and R.R. M.K. believed that R.R. was also Trestles’ in-
house counsel.

C. M.K., on behalf of Trucare, agreed to fill the

Overflow Prescriptions. M.K. knew that it was illegal to pay
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referral fees for Tricare-reimbursable prescriptions. The indi-
vidual who initially solicited M.K. for Trucare to fill the
Overflow Prescriptions, D.V., told M.K. that they could do a
“work around.”

GARBINQO'S Vigit to Trucare and Discugsion About Red Flags

Regarding the Overflow Prescriptions

d. GARBINO and Trestles purported co-owner D.F.® vis-
ited Trucare to ensure that Trucare. would correctly process the
Overflow Prescriptions. M.K. told GARBINO and D.F. that Trucare
personnel intended to call the patients to verify the Overflow
Prescriptions. GARBINO and D.F. objected. M.K. also stated
‘that he thought the Overflow Prescriptions looked suspicious be-
cause some of the prescription forms called for prescribing at
least five different products. D.F. told M.K. to fill prescrip-
tions for just three of the products on the forms and that
should not make them appear so suspicious.

e. M.K. told GARBINO, D.F., and D.V. that the Over-
flow Prescriptions should be sent directly from doctors’ offices
and not from marketers. M.K. later learned instead that Tres-

tles sent the prescriptions to the pharmacies.’

® GARBINO and D.F. were accompanied by D.V., who had ini-
tially solicited M.K. to fill the Overflow Prescriptions.

” I know from interviewing other former Trestles distribu-

tors, including J.B. and L.M., and from reviewing Trestles docu-
ments obtained by a former Trestles employee, V.P., that Tres-
tles’ so-called marketers were known within Trestles as “dis-
tributors” and were assigned unique “e-fax” numbers. Prescrip-
tions obtained in large part from telemedicine site activity
were ‘“e-faxed” to the pharmacy of Trestles’ choice, both to ena-
ble Trestles to track the progress of fulfillment and claims re-

15



f. M.K. estimated that Trucare received approximate-
ly 200 Overflow Prescriptions over a period of about three
weeks. Thereafter TP refused to process any more Overflow Pre-
scriptions in part because M.K. learned about improprieties for
hundreds of compounded medication prescriptions purportedly au-
thorized by Dr. P.B., who was the subject of a national news re-
port.® M.K. then suspected that all of the Overflow Prescrip-
tions were bogus. GARBINO and D.F. nonetheless pushed M.K. to
keep filling them and to not worry about what M.K. perceived as
problems with telemedicine doctors’ prescriptions, including
those purportedly authorized by Dr. P.B.°

The Fraudulent Invoices

g. At some point around May or June 2015, GARBINO
and Trestles’ purported co-owner D.F. demanded that Trucare pay
Trestles a referral fee for the Overflow Prescriptions. M.K.
refused because his 1awyer told him and, in turn, M.K. told

GARBINO, that such payments would be illegal.

imbursement for each prescription, and so that Trestles could
chose the pharmacy that would pay the highest possible referral
fee. For example, Haeoyou had agreed to pay Trestles 65% of fi-
nal Tricare claims adjudications.

8 I know that, on or about May 6, 2015, CBS aired.a news
report that stated, in part, that Dr. P.B. had authorized com-
pounded medications prescriptions.
http://www.cbsnews.com/news/doctors-complicit-costly-abuse-
military-health-care-system/.

> I know from reviewing emails in or about late April-early

May 2015, provided by a cooperating, former sales distributor of
Trestles, that GARBINO, D.F., and Trestles purported co-owner
R.R. were aware that Dr. P.B. was a telemedicine doctor and had
denied authorizing numerous prescriptions that Trestles had re-
ferred to HY for fulfillment in exchange for a referral fee.

16



h. As a work-around, GARBINO proposed that Trucare
could pay referral fees owed on the Overflow Prescriptions by
calling those referral fees an “advance” on GARBINO'’s other
business, Sano, for referring non-Tricare workers’ compensation
prescriptions to Trucare 

17. Based on M.K.'s interview statements, and on my re-
view of bank records obtained and emails provided by M.K. during
this investigation, I learned the following:

a. On or about June 10, 2015, B.K.' emailed M.K.,
with a “cc” to “garbs92629@gmail.com,”'’ a document entitled “in-
voice” dated June 10, 2015. The “invoice” stated that Trucare
owed Sano 65% of the “billed amount” for “workerg’ compensa-
tion,” totaling $997,608..

b. On or about June 24, 2015, B.K. emailed M.K.,
with a “cc” to “garbs9262%@gmail.com,” another “invoice,” dated
June 24, 2015. This “invoice” described a “sales amount” for
“May - June 10" of “W/C” of approximately $1,458,685, against
which Trucare owed Sano $926,563.

C. I calculated that $926,563 is approximately 64%
of $1,458,685, or approximately $21,582 less than TP would pur-

portedly owe pursuant to its 65% agreement with ‘Sano, described

10 T pelieve, from Trestles and Sano emails and from inter-

nal Trestles documents obtained from former Trestles employees
or distributors, that B.K. worked below GARBINO at Trestles and
Sano.

T believe that this email address belonged to GARBINO
based on my review of several emails, including one dated April
6, 2015, from “John Garbino (garbs92629%@gmail.com)” to D.V.
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above. Based upon my knowledge of this case as described here-
in, and from speaking with other agents involved in this inves-
tigation, I have probable cause to believe that this calculation
helps establish that the “invoices® were fraudulent because (1)
GARBINO and others seeking to collect referral fees for the Tri-
care-reimbursable Overflow Prescriptions had made clear that
they were owed 65% on adjudicated payments; there was no good
reason for them, especially given their general desire to col-
lect what they believed was debt; to give-up more than $21,000
of that claim, and (2) as shown more fully below, the claimed
debt of $926,563 that GARBINO characterized as related to non-
Tricare referrals was substantially the same as 65% of the final
Tricare adjudications for the Overflow Prescriptions. Had the
numbers been the same, it simply would have been even more sus-
picious.

a. Sano bank records show that Trucare paild Sano ap-
proximately $926,563 via two checks, on or about June 9, 2015
and on or about June 24, 2015. The same records show that the
Sano bank account into which Trucare’s payments were made was
openéd only a few days before Trucare’'s first payment, on or
about June 3, 2015.

e. Sano bank records also show no other significant
deposits after the opening of that account (June 3, 2015), and
that approximately $685,000 of the credit to that account due to
Trucare’s checks was transferred fairly quickly to an account in

the name of Trestles Pain Specialists LLC.
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£. Sano bank records further éhow thathARBINO and
Trestles’ in-house counsel R.R. were the authorized signatories
for the Sano bank account into which Trucare’s checks were de-
posited. Trestles Pain Specialists, LLC bank records show that
GARBINO was its authorized signatory. D.F., who had accompanied
GARBINO to TP and who had made a demand for Trucare to pay re-
ferral fees for the Overflow Prescriptions, as stated above, was
also identified as a “member.”

18. I reviewed a certain spreadsheet provided by M.K. to
DCIS Special Agent Timothy Nugent, who I know is co-
investigating this case. SA Nugent who told me about the
spreadsheet’s origin from his discussions with M.K. From thisg
evidence, I learned the following:

a. M.K. sent SA Nugent a spreadsheet in or about May
2016 that M.K. prepared to show details of the Tricare reim-
bursement payments related to the Overflow Prescriptions.

b. The spreadsheet showed “net commission” of
$937,969.96, or 65% of and against the reimbursement payments,
and after expenses, of $1,443,030.70. M.K. told SA Nugent that
the "“net commission” figure was based upon GARBINO’s and others'’
demands for payment for referral fees for the Overflow Prescrip-
tions.

19. I also reviewed an email from M.K., dated August 6,
2015, showing its sender as “[B.K.]@sanomedical.net,” with a
“cc” to an emall address that I know, as mentioned above, was.

used by GARBINO. The email stated:
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“Hello [M.K.], Attached is an [Explanation of
Benefits] from a patient that was processed at [Tru
care] . It shows Tricare paid $12,042.92 for two [com
pounded] creams. We were paid our percentage on the
total of $9,634.34 for this patient. The difference
is $2,408.58. If you could please let us know about
the difference of $2,408.58. Thanks,..”

20, I compared the patient and prescription information
described in the above-referenced email with M.K.’s spreadsheet,
as described above, and have probable cause to believe that,
when read together and in light of the evidence stated herein,
the spreadsheet accurately represented Tricare reimbursements
pald to Trucare for the Overflow Prescriptions, and that the
$926,563 payment from Trucare to Sano in June 2015 was compensa-
tion for Tricare-reimbursable Overflow Prescriptions and not for
the referral of so-called workers’ compensation prescriptions.
Thus, I have probable cause to believe, based on the same evi-
dence, that GARBINO prepared or caused others to prepare the
purported “workers’ compensation” invoices in order to knowingly
conceal illegal referral fees paid or to be paid.

Covertly-Recorded Meeting Between GARBINO and M.K.

21. "On April 25, 2016, M.K. participated in a covert,
consensually-monitored (video-taped) meeting with GARBINO. I
reviewed the recording and transcript of that meeting, and dis-
cussed that meeting with agents who monitored the statements
made by M.K. and GARBINO and who told me that the recording and

transcript accurately depict the substance of the statements

20



made during that meeting. In addition to what I believe were
GARBINO's admissions that the so-called workers’ compensation
invoiceg were bogus, I also believe that GARBINO counseled M.K.
to fabricate a story to conceal the truth about the invoices and
advanced a sham and insincere “advice of counsel” defense.
GARBINO stated that:

a. He owned Sano.

b. Trestles did Tricare business from December 2014
until April 2015.

c. Trestles sent Tricare business to Haeoyou.
Haeoyou transferred that business to Trucare and Trucare filled
that business.

d. “And while we feel like we’re at like this giant
circle of investigation that they’'re looking at, we’'re a very
small pimple of everything that’'s going on.”

e. M.K. had “specifically said” that Trucare would
not pay referral fees on Tricare-reimbursable prescription re-
ferrals. M.K. was “adamant about not paying Sano on Tricare

prescriptions.” “So, through [D.F.] and [R.R.]'’s inflﬁence
[Trucare] paild $926,000 to Sano Medical which was based on Tri-
care adjudicated business. But we categorized it as a Workers'
Comp advance because we had enough business to do so and [Tru-
carelwas not going to pay on Tricare.”

t. [In response to M.K. stating that law enforcement
will notice that the $926,563 payment from Trucare to Sano sub-
stantially equaled 65% of the Tricare reimbursements for the

Overflow Prescriptions, GARBINO stated], “[b]Jut Matt [M.K.'s
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nickname]l. Matt, the numbers being the same - you decided to
pay that money to us as a Workers’ Comp advance. Whether it was
the exact number or not the fact that it’s categorized as a
Worker'’'s Comp advance doesn’t mean it’s Tricare. That’s what my
attorneys told me today. When it becomes Tricare is when you
chose once the money comes in to pay us again on it. I’'m here
telling you we’re not seeking that money. I'm telling you right
now that we’re considering that business as a Worker’'s Comp pay-
ment. At my own financial hardship I'm saying that. . . “that's
where my story comes from. . . When do you meet with your at-
torney?”

g. “I mean honesgtly when I met with my attorney he
was like, . . . ‘you’re my guys now, They’'re not.’ I'm like,
‘[D.F. and R.R. are] not.’ '‘What do I do?’' He basically said
straight out, ‘Fuck those guys.’ Its what he told me. So, I'm
in i1t to protect myself. You’re in it to protect yourself. And
we need to protect each - we need to protect ourselves.

[M]y attorneys have advised me that I've got [to] 100 percent
separaté from [D.F.] because he’'s being loocked at as really the
ring leader . . . .”

h. “[M]y argument has to coincide with your argu-
ment. And I'm not going to go tell my side of the story and
have that be completely different from your side of the story

before I go in to speak with the prosecuting attorney, I
will not go ;n there unless I’'ve got my story 100 percent down,
and that’s my‘story that was my role in Trestles . . . It will

be my story in working with you. I mean, there’s not going to
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be anything where you’'re going to walk in and speak with [the
prosecutors] and your story of how this whole thing transpired
is different than mine. . . [let’s] explain our program to [our
attorneys] that it’s 100 percent the same. So, that they’re not
hearing a different story from you than they are from me.”

i. *My fight is to legitimize how the payments were
made . ”

j- *And the bottom line is that my company [where]
my defense comes in at is we had our contracts vetted out by at-
torneys. We were doing everything based on the advice of our
attorneys, whether it was [R.R.] or the healthcare attorneys,
the pharmacies,. whatever it was. -We were working within what we
thought were the confines of the law. And there was never a
criminal intent of anything that we ever waﬁted or with anything
that we tried to do. . . . I mean, I had an attorney that was a
partner in my company and was supposed to be watching over all
the shit that we did. . . We even had an additional,healthcare
attorney that we hired outside of our own attorney that was
supposed to be vetting stuff. The contracts that were signed by
the pharmacies all had their healthcare attorneys. You had
[your own attorney] that even modified our contract; He’'s one
of the top healthcare attorneys in the country.”

k. “Does [your attorney] have any pull with ([the
prosecutor, AUSA] Mark Aveis?”

1. | "My argument has to coincide with your argument

I'm not going to tell my side of the story and have that

be completely different from your side of the story.”
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m. “I have to 100% separate myself from D.F.

He's being looked at as the ringleader - his fight is differ-
ent.”

22. I reviewed an email dated May 18, 2016 from R.R. to
Trucare’s corporate lawyer'? in which R.R. indicated that he
would file a civil complaint against Trucare and M.K. “tomorrow
if I do not hear from you and thig gets resolved today.” R.R.
attached a draft complaint to that email. I reviewed the at-
tached draft civil complaint and observed the following allega-
tions:

a. Sano’s principal place of business was in Orange
County, California.

b. “On March 1, 2015 Sano and [Trucare] entered into
[a] Consulting Services Agreement . . .'[by which] . . . [Tru-
.care] would pay Sano 65% of the payment [Trucare] receives on
the sale of each Compound Pain Cream.”

c. “The total sums [Trucare] has billed all payors
through February 2016, including billing for TriCare Federal
Program patient . . . 1s in excess of $26 million'which if the
total sum is collected would mean [Trucare] will owe Sano
$16,900,000.”7

d. “[Trucare] has billed TriCare Federal Program pa-
tients through February 2016 $926,562.98 . . . .”

e. “[M.K.] has informed Sano that he and [Trucare]

are being investigated by the U.S. Attorney’s Office for [Tru-

' Trucare is a fictitious business name of Egyptian, Inc.
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care] TriCare billing and in or about March 2016, [M.K.] re-
guested Sano to isgsue a false billing statement for the TriCare
Billing and to state that it was billing for Compound Pain Cream
for California Worker Compensation patients and not for TriCare
billing. Sano advised [M.K.] that it would not participate in
any form of subornation of perjury or make any false statement
concerning the Compound Pain Cream or TriCare Billing.”

23. I have probable céuse to believe, based on the evi-
dence described herein, that the allegations of the draft com-
plaint provide additional’ evidence of GARBINO'’s criminal intent
and knowledge. First, the qompiaint was drafted by R.R., a
Trestles insider with close ties to GARBINO, on behalf of Sano
which is wholly owned by GARBINO. The complaint may reasonably
be read as if GARBINO is asserting facts on which he believes he‘
is entitled to recovery. Next, despite what plainly appears to
be GARBINO's effort to re-characterize, after-the-fact, the
$926,563 payment as an advance against non-Tricare-reimbursable
prescriptioﬁ referrals,_the complaint plainly characterizes that
payment as from Tricare referrals. Next, there is no evidence
that M.K. requested any type of billing in March 2016. Next, a
plain and fair interpretation of GARBINO’s ektemporaneous state-
ments during the April 2016 consensually-monitored call, de-
scribed above, leads to the reasonable conclusion that GARBINO

suggested and prepared the fraudulent invoices, not M.K.
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C. DEFENSES

Advice-of-Counsel

24 . I have learned from other investigators involved in
this investigation, and from the recording and transcript de-
scribed above, that GARBINO has stated that he acted on the ad-
vice of counsel in seeking to collect and in collecting fees for
Tricare-reimbursable prescriptions that his businesses had re-
ferred to pharmacies. For example, I interviewed former Tres-
tles distributor J.B., and spoke to investigators who inter-
viewed former Trestles distributor L.M., who told me that
GARBINO frequently mentioned at Trestles’ headquarters that they .
would have to “ask [A.]” or “ask [R.R.],” both attorneys, about
how to take some action or another regarding Trestles. I also
know that, in support of its civil case against Haeoyou that
Trestles filed in or about May 2015, (discussed below), Trestles
introduced a declaratioﬁ of attorney A.D., that I have reviewed,
who declared that he was an expert in healthcare law and, having
reviewed a contract between Trestles and Haeoyou that called for
referral payments, he believed that a provision in the contract
that mentioned the AKS showed that the parties did not intend to
vioclate that law. In that same declaration, A.D. also stated
that the “employment” safe harbor exemption in the AKS, dis-
cussed below,»mightrapply. Additionally, in connection with the
same civil case of Trestles against Haeoyou, Trestles produced a
memorandum purportedly dated April 6, 2015 that was purportedly
prepared by Trestles co-owner and in-house counsel R.R. In that

memorandum, that I reviewed, R.R. purportedly opined that the
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AKS did not prohibit Trestles’ right to fees for referring pre-
scriptions because Tricare was “funded by private health insur-
ance, ” notwithstanding that, in the same memorandum, R.R. stated
that “Tricare i1s a federal Program for providing medical care to
military personnel . . .7 and that “a percentage payment ar-
rangement which involved Medicare, which is funded by Federal
taxpayers, . . . would be illegal.”'?

25. Based on my training and experience, and discussions
with other investigators and prosecutors, I believe that, in or-
der to prevail on an advice of counsel defense, a defendant must
establish that, before taking any action, defendant, [1] while
acting in good faith and [2] for the purpose of securing advice
on the lawfulness of his possible future conduct, [3] sought and
obtained the advice of an attorney [4] whom he considered to be
competent, and [5] made a full and accurate report or disclosure
to his attorney of all important and material factg of which he
had knowledge or had the means of knowing, and [6] acted strict-
ly in accordance with the advice his attorney gave following
this full report or disclosure. See Devitt and Blackmar, Feder-
al Jury Practice and Instructions, 19.08 (Action on Advice of

Coungel Explained) (1992).

*  GARBINO may argue that he relied on R.R.’s advice, even

if R.R.'s advice was wrong. However, in light of all of the ev-
idence stated herein, I nonetheless believe there is probable
cause to believe that GARBINO did not rely on R.R.’s advice; had
he done so, GARBINO would not have needed to mis-characterize
the approximately $926,000 payment for the Overflow Prescrip-
tions as anything other than Tricare-reimbursable activity.
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26, Based on my training and experience, discussions with
other investigators and prosecutors, and my review of the evi-
dence in this as described above, I have probable cause to be-
lieve that this defense is a sham, insincere, and not likely to
succeed for several reasons. First, although witnesses, and
perhaps GARBINO, allude to A.D. as having provided legal advice
to Trestles during the offense conduct described herein, A.D.
did not gtate that he had done so in his declaration described
above. Given that witnesses stated that A.D. was Trestles'’' out-
side counsel at the relevant time, it would have made more sense
for A.D. to have declared that he counseled Trestles at the rel-
evant time that Trestles' conduct was legal; he did not so de-
clare. Next, A.D.’s opinion in his declaration, that GARBINO
and others may be exempt from AKS liability under the so-called
“employment” safe-harbor exception, i1s meritless and indicates
that GARBINC misled A.D. about the relationship between GARBINO,
on the one hand, and Haeoyou and Trucare, on the other hand. As
discussed below, I have probable cause to believe that the “em-
ployment” safe-harbor exemption cannot apply because GARBINO was
not employed by either Haeoyou or Trucare. Next, R.R.’s pur-
ported opinion memorandum was dated more than three months after
Trestles had already referred compounded medications prescrip-
tions to Haeoyou and to Trucare. Thus, unless GARBINO were to
testify that R.R. orally provided the same opinion prior to that
time, it would likely be seen as concocted after-the-fact.

Next, R.R. was a purported co-owner of Trestles. His bias and

interest in an outcome favorable to GARBINO would be difficult
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to overcome. Next, based on my training and experience, and re-
view of the evidence in this case, including Tricare data and
payments, R.R.’s opinion incorrectly stated that Tricare was a
privately-funded program. A simple Internet search would have
shown that Tricare was and is a federal health care program.

Anti-Kickback “Safe Harborsg”

27. The AKS has several safe harbors as well as an im-
plied safe harbor that results from either getting or to some
extent relying on advisory opinions from the U.S. Department of
Health and Human Services (“HHS”). 42 C.F.R. § 1001.952. The
first safe harbor is a “referral service.” A payment.to a “re-
ferral service” may be exempt from AKS liability if. it meets
four requirements, set forth in 42 C.F.R. § 1001.952(f), includ-
ing that payments must be based on the cost of operating the re-
ferral service, and not on the volume or value of any referrals
to or business otherwise generated. I know from the evidence
gathered in this and related investigations that dispensing
pharmacies claimed thousands of dollars per prescripticon in
seeking reimbursement from Tricare and, in turn, paid large
amounts of those reimbursements to cappers that were tied to a
percentage of the volume and value of referrals. Thus, I be-
lieve that there is probable cause to believe that GARBINO’S ac-
tivities did not meet the test for the “referral service” exemp-
tion described above because the payments to him appeared to be
based on the volume and value of the business he generated by
his referrals, and were not based on the actual or legitimate

cost of operating a bona fide referral service.

29



28. I further believe that GARBINO cannot claim the em-
ployee exemption either, 42 C.F.R. § 1001.952(i), that exempts
payménts in a bona fide employment relationship. At least under
Medicare ARS case law, “the safe-harbor provision relies on 26
U.S.C. § 3121(d) (2) for the definition that an employee is ‘any
individual who, under the usual common law rules applicable in
determining the employer-employee relationship, has the status

of an employee.’” United States v.'Robinson, 505 F.App'x. 385,

387 (5th Cir. 2013). GARBINO operated his own referral service,
namely Trestles and Sano, and was ﬁot employed by the pharmacies
to whom he had referred, or intended to réfer, prescriptions fér
fulfillment in exchange for a fee.

29. Finally, based on my discussions with others involved
in this investigation, I have learned that GARBINO had not

sought and was not identified as the subject of an HHS advisory

opinion.
Iv. CONCLUSION
30. For all of the reasons described above, I believe
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there is prcobable cause to believe that JOHN GARBINO received
illegal remuneration, in violation of Title 42, United States

Code, Section 1320a-7b(b) (1) (A).
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’ 1
Monica Pandis, Special Agent
Federal Bureau of Investigation

Subscribed to and sworn before me
this ‘24) day of June, 2016.

A
HONORABLE

UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE

KAREN E. SCOTT

31





